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 A Note to Readers

DANGEROUS DOSES IS BASED ON TWO-AND-A-HALF YEARS OF reporting in which I conducted more than 160 significant interviews with people involved in the problem of contaminated medicine in America. Those I interviewed include government investigators, pharmacists, doctors, patients, drug makers, lobbyists, politicians, regulators, lawyers, researchers, and pharmaceutical wholesalers, as well as those involved in drug counterfeiting and diversion. I also conducted dozens of background interviews with sources that asked not to be named but whose contributions helped to shape the book.

In the course of this reporting, I obtained more than 13,000 pages of documents. These include government records received in response to sixteen Freedom of Information requests I submitted to the Food and Drug Administration, the Florida health department, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, and other state pharmacy boards. Wherever possible, I have relied on original material including internal memorandums, police reports, sales records, shipping records, correspondence, investigative records, inspection reports, search warrants, surveillance videotapes, photographs, and court documents. This material includes the investigative records from Operation Stone Cold of both the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and the Miami-Dade Police Department.

My reporting has benefited from the extensive help of federal and state law-enforcement officials, including members of the Operation Stone Cold task force. In the book's endnotes, the reader will find references to documents I used to re-create scenes and make factual assertions. Material that came from interviews and events that I reported firsthand is not cited in endnotes. Instead, after the endnotes, I have provided a list of substantive on-the-record interviews I conducted for the book. I have not included the names of the hundreds of people I interviewed whose information did not directly shape the narrative.

 I made sixteen trips to Florida, as well as trips to Nevada, Missouri, Tennessee, Georgia, and Washington, D.C. Scenes I did not witness were re-created through interviews with those present as well as through investigative records, transcripts, audiotapes, and videotapes. I worked to resolve discrepancies through repeated interviews with as many of those present as possible. The few instances where discrepancies remain are documented in endnotes. In drawing on investigative reports, I did my best to independently confirm the information contained in them.

 


Each of those persons or companies described in this book as being involved in potentially criminal or other unlawful activity was given an opportunity to comment, respond to allegations, or correct the record, either firsthand or through their lawyers. Readers should keep in mind that, except as expressly stated otherwise in the text or endnotes: At the time this book went to press none had been determined to have violated any criminal or other laws; all have, or should be considered to have, denied any wrongdoing; and each of those indicted has pleaded not guilty. All should be deemed innocent of any accusations of unlawful activity unless and until proved otherwise in the final outcome of judicial proceedings. Readers are encouraged to consult the Who's Who immediately following and the endnotes.

Winter 2004/2005



 Who's Who


FLORIDA


Operation Stone Cold

HORSEMEN OF THE APOCALYPSE—Five investigators who penetrated the corruption of America's drug supply.

Cesar Arias, Drug Inspector, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services

Gene Odin, Drug Inspector, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services

Randy Jones, former Detective, Miami-Dade Police Department

John Petri, Sergeant, Miami-Dade Police Department

Gary Venema, Special Agent, Florida Department of Law Enforcement


SUPPORTING INVESTIGATORS

Jack Calvar, Senior Investigator, Medicaid Fraud Control Unit, Attorney General's Office

Steve Zimmerman, Detective, Miami-Dade Police Department


CATALYSTS OF THE INVESTIGATION

Martin J. Bradley, CEO & Founding Partner, BioMed Plus, Miami

Sydney Dean Jones, pharmacy technician; cooperating witness

Annette Mantia, former secondary wholesaler; cooperating witness





 Government

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Dr. John O. Agwunobi, Secretary

Robert Daniti, General Counsel

Jerry Hill, Chief, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services

Gregg Jones, Pharmaceutical Program Manager, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services

Sandra Stovall, Compliance Officer, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services

Robert Loudis, former Drug Inspector, Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services


ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE

Charlie Crist, Attorney General

Peter Williams, Statewide Prosecutor

Melanie Ann Hines, former Statewide Prosecutor

Oscar Gelpi, Assistant Statewide Prosecutor

Stephanie Feldman, former Assistant Statewide Prosecutor

Robert Penezic, former Assistant Statewide Prosecutor


FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT

Michael Mann, Assistant Special Agent in Charge

Tim Moore, former Commissioner


HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

Representative Ed Homan (R-Temple Terrace)


STATE SENATE

Senator Walter "Skip" Campbell Jr. (D-Tamarac)





FEDERAL


Food & Drug Administration

OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

William Hubbard, Senior Associate Commissioner for Policy, Planning and Legislation



OFFICE OF CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS

Terrell L. Vermillion, Director

Luis Perez, Special Agent, Miami Field Office

Doug Fabel, former Special Agent in Charge, Miami Field Office

Kent Walker, former Special Agent in Charge, Miami Field Office




 U.S. House of Representatives

Congressman John Dingell (D-MI)

Congressman Steve Israel (D-NY)





PATIENTS


Counterfeit Epogen

Timothy Fagan, sixteen-year-old New York transplant patient

Kevin Fagan, father

Jeanne Fagan, mother

Dr. Lewis Teperman, Director of Transplantation, New York University Medical Center

Eric Turkewitz, family lawyer




Counterfeit Procrit

Maxine Blount, deceased Missouri cancer patient

Ed Blount, widower

Max Butler, brother

Gretchen Garrison, family lawyer, Stinson Morrison Hecker




Counterfeit Serostim

Rick Roberts, California AIDS patient





STATE INVESTIGATORS/REGULATORS


Georgia Drugs and Narcotics Agency

Richard Allen, Deputy Director





 Nevada Board of Pharmacy

Louis Ling, General Counsel

Keith Macdonald, Executive Secretary




Texas Department of Health

John Gower, Director, Drugs, Devices & Cosmetics

Albert Hokins, Jr., former Investigator, Drugs, Devices & Cosmetics





MANUFACTURERS

J. Aaron Graham, Vice President, Corporate Security, Purdue Pharma; former special agent, FDA Office of Criminal Investigations

Jon Martino, Security Specialist, Amgen Inc.




PRIMARY DISTRIBUTORS

Chris Zimmerman, Senior Director, Security and Regulatory Affairs, AmerisourceBergen

Neil Spence, former Vice President, National Specialty Services, Cardinal Health Inc.




SECONDARY DISTRIBUTORS


Florida

Susan Cavalieri, former Principal, AmeRx Pharmaceutical; cooperating witness—Relinquished her wholesale license and paid $900,000 as part of her agreement with Florida prosecutors.

Brian Hill, former Chief Operating Officer, Jemco Medical International—Company license revoked.

José Castillo, former President, Jemco Medical International—Company license revoked.




Nevada

Lance Packer, former Principal, Legend Pharmaceuticals—Company license revoked.

Paul DeBree, former President, Dutchess Business Services—Company license revoked.

Robb Miller, President, Caladon Health Solutions




 Missouri

Doug Albers, Owner, Albers Medical Distributors

Noah Salcedo, Buyer, Albers Medical Distributors





WHOLESALER TRADE GROUPS


Healthcare Distribution Management Association (HDMA)—Represents primary wholesalers.

Bonnie Basham, Lobbyist




Pharmaceutical Distributors Association (PDA)—Represents secondary wholesalers.

Sal Ricciardi, President

Bruce Krichmar, Legislative/Regulatory Affairs Director(s)

Ross McSwain, Lobbyist and Lawyer, Blank, Meenan & Smith

Anthony Young, Lawyer, Kleinfeld, Kaplan & Becker





MICHAEL CARLOW'S WORLD

Michael Carlow, ex-convict charged with trafficking in bad medicine—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, grand theft, dealing in stolen property, sale or delivery of a controlled substance, possession with intent to sell prescription drugs, sale and delivery of a controlled substance and purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person. Pleaded not guilty and is in jail awaiting trial.



Alleged Shell Companies

BTC Wholesale, Florida

G&K Pharma, Maryland

Complete Wholesale, Maryland

Accucare, Florida

JB Pharmaceutical, Texas

Pormis Wholesale Distributors, Texas




 Alleged Accomplices

Candace Carlow, wife—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, and organized scheme to defraud. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Thomas Atkins, brother-in-law—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, and possession with intent to sell prescription drugs. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Marilyn Atkins, mother-in-law—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, and organized scheme to defraud. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

José L. Benitez—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, and organized scheme to defraud. A fugitive with a warrant out for his arrest.

Fabian díaz—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, grand theft, and dealing in stolen property. A fugitive with a warrant out for his arrest.

David Ebanks—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, and possession with intent to sell prescription drugs. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Henry García—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, and possession with intent to sell prescription drugs. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.





 Others

Gina Catapano—Did secretarial work for Carlow.

Jean Mclntyre—Carlow's banker and prospective business partner.

Mark Novosel, former Carlow deputy; cooperating defendant. Pleaded guilty in June 2003 to organized scheme to defraud and is awaiting sentencing.





JOSÉ GRILLO'S WORLD

José Grillo, charged with counterfeiting medicine—Indicted in July 2003 on charges of organized scheme to defraud, purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person, and possession with intent to distribute prescription drugs. Indicted in May 2004 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, product tampering, sale of prescription drugs to an unauthorized person, selling or offering for sale counterfeit goods, and forging or counterfeiting private labels. Pleaded not guilty and is in jail awaiting trial.



Alleged Accomplices

Nicholas Just, Co-owner, Playpen South—Indicted in May 2004 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, product tampering, purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person, sale of a prescription drug to an unauthorized person, and selling or offering for sale counterfeit goods. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Dr. Paul Perito, Co-owner, Playpen South—Indicted in May 2004 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, money laundering, purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person, sale of a prescription drug to an unauthorized person, and selling or offering for sale counterfeit goods. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Carlos Luis, Owner, Medix International—Indicted in May 2004 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, Medicaid fraud, possession with intent to sell prescription drugs, possession with intent to sell or deliver a controlled substance, money laundering, product tampering, purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person, and selling or offering for sale counterfeit goods. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.

Eddie Mor, Owner, Express Rx—Indicted in May 2004 on charges of racketeering, conspiracy to commit racketeering, organized scheme to defraud, purchase or receipt of a prescription drug from an unauthorized person, possession with intent to sell prescription drugs, product tampering, and selling or offering for sale counterfeit goods. Pleaded not guilty and is awaiting trial.




 Others

Maria Castro and Jesús Benitez—Ran pharmacy alleged to have diverted medicine. Indicted in October 2003 on charges of organized scheme to defraud, possession with intent to sell prescription drugs, and sale of a prescription drug to an unauthorized person. In February 2005 Benitez pleaded guilty to the unauthorized sale of prescription drugs, received probation, and agreed to cooperate. The charges against Castro were dropped, and she agreed to cooperate.

Armando Rodriguez—Admitted that he bought vials for Grillo. Cooperating witness.

Silvino Cristobal Morales—Admitted that he helped Grillo relabel vials. Cooperating witness.





 Prologue

EVERY YEAR AMERICANS FILL MORE THAN THREE BILLION PRESCRIPTIONS through reputable pharmacies and assume their medicine will be pure and effective—precisely what their doctors ordered. Since 2000, an increasing number of Americans who went to their pharmacies got counterfeit medicine instead. The medicine looked the same; the packaging appeared identical; the pharmacists could not tell the difference. But the medicine was different. Counterfeiters seeking profits had diluted it, replaced it with cheaper ingredients, or relabeled it to appear stronger.

The costly, brand-name medicine affected by this ranged from treatments for cancer and renal failure to drugs for AIDS and high cholesterol. The patients who wound up with the counterfeit medicine were not risk takers who sought discounts across borders or over the Internet. They had bought legitimate medicine from the heart of America's drug supply. When these patients suffered terrible side effects like rashes or stinging or when their drugs abruptly stopped working, counterfeits were often the last possibility they considered.

 


DANGEROUS DOSES IS A BOOK ABOUT THE SYSTEMIC CONTAMINATION of the very medicine we trust the most—the medicine that is prescribed by our doctors and distributed within our borders. By 2002, federal and state investigators faced a dramatic increase in cases of domestic pharmaceutical counterfeiting. Each incident seemed to grow in scale. One involved enough cancer medicine to treat 25,000 patients for a month; another involved a best-selling cholesterol drug that may have reached 600,000 patients.

 The counterfeits were not a one-time fluke but rather a consequence of America's distribution system. Our medicine moves through a gray market of middlemen who trade the drugs as they would any other commodity, seeking profits from ever-fluctuating prices. These sales can obscure the medicine's origin and make its purity impossible to guarantee. They also open the door to counterfeits.

Investigators realized by 2002 that felons including narcotics traffickers and those with ties to organized crime had infiltrated America's drug supply. After becoming licensed wholesalers, they poured compromised medicine into our distribution system. Their profits rivaled those in the narcotics trade. As investigations proceeded across the country, one of the most intense ones was in South Florida, where many of the counterfeits originated.

By the fall of 2002, after receiving a tip from a longtime source in the federal government, I was reporting on the issue of domestic counterfeits for Self magazine. In eight years as an investigative medical reporter, I had never encountered a story like this one. Counterfeits had reached patients across the country. People had been hurt. Yet the public knew almost nothing about the problem, which had been growing quietly for years.

On my first reporting trip to South Florida, several experiences led to the development of this book. Driving out of Fort Lauderdale, I pulled off a busy road to take a call from the public relations director of a major drug company. I asked him to comment on what I'd learned: that numerous lots of his company's lifesaving drug had been relabeled to appear twenty times the actual strength; that investigators from the Food and Drug Administration and his own company were on their way to Florida to assist with the investigation; that a licensed distributor whose home I was driving to was suspected of trafficking in counterfeit versions of that very medicine.

 "I'd hate to have you short the stock [try to profit from a decline in the share price]" over local and contained incidents, he responded. The comment surprised me. The drug company had been a victim of the counterfeiting and was confronting a public health issue. Why would it deny or minimize the problem? The man's remark inadvertently revealed that at least some in the drug industry associated exposure of the counterfeiting problem with financial loss. If drug makers had downplayed the problem, who else had? And what could patients do about it?

On that same trip, I met with a group of Florida investigators who were trying to track the sources of the tainted medicine and bring the problem to wider attention. Their work began haphazardly with a burglary at a medicine warehouse and had morphed into an enormous case; their suspects included one-third of Florida's 455 licensed drug wholesalers. The problem was so big that they likened their efforts to "shoveling sand in a hurricane."

Their task force, called Operation Stone Cold, consisted principally of three cops, Gary Venema, John Petri, and Randy Jones, and two pharmacists, Cesar Arias and Gene Odin. Four were over the age of fifty. All relied to varying degrees on prescription medicine they no longer trusted. Three had been ready to retire before this case came along. Now they worked seven days a week, often around the clock, and called their indissoluble team the Horsemen of the Apocalypse. "The public is so snookered," Cesar Arias told me. "If they really knew, they'd be outraged."

 The public needed to know. Yet everywhere I looked, dangerous public health implications had been veiled in secrecy. Drug makers are not required to report counterfeit medicine to the FDA. While the FDA oversees drug manufacturers, the regulation of drug wholesalers is left to each state and a patchwork of regulations. Our drugs sometimes pass through a dozen hands on their way to our pharmacies. And a law enacted almost two decades ago that might have strengthened our supply chain had been gutted under pressure by various business interests.

I spent the next two-and-a-half years following the investigators who uncovered the counterfeits and the patients who received them. I met with drug makers, distributors, and regulators, as well as those accused of criminal misconduct. Most of the events in this book I reported as they unfolded. I allowed the haphazard path of the counterfeits to define the unfolding narrative, which weaves together the stories of strangers in disparate parts of the country whose lives become inextricably and fatefully linked by bad medicine. Patients who understand the hidden dangers can demand the safest drugs possible. I hope this book will help begin that process.


 Part One




 1. A Victim of Success

January 2002

Miami, Florida


ABOARD A CRUISE SHIP TO COZUMEL, THE WEATHER SPARKLING and an Absolut and soda in hand, Marty Bradley stared at the Gulf of Mexico from inside a locked suite, his silent misery fed by thoughts of betrayal, financial ruin, and even physical danger.

He had brought sixty employees on the gleaming white ship for his company's annual blowout of dancing, gambling, and sunbathing, a reward for meeting their sales targets. But all Bradley could think of now was armed guards, locksmiths, and lie detector tests—and which of the employees on board had sold him out and gotten away with the score of their lives.

Just twenty-four hours ago, while he had been packing for the cruise, a white van had backed into an alleyway behind his Miami warehouse. Some men climbed from the van and managed to twist the dead bolt, tear off the rear metal door, and enter the warehouse around 8 P.M. Once inside, they knew exactly what to look for.

Shortly afterward, the distribution manager, René Perez, returned from his errand at Dadeland Mall and swung past the back alley as was his habit, partly because he was responsible for keeping it clear and partly because Bradley was his brother-in-law. Perez felt protective and viewed the business as a family affair.

 Usually the narrow, dimly lit alley was empty. But tonight Perez saw the white van parked outside the warehouse, its motor running and its side door open. He turned and drove toward it along the dusty street. As he angled to park, a man in a long-sleeved T-shirt holding something in his hand ran from the warehouse and leapt into the van as it pulled out, tires screeching.

Perez followed, peeling down the alley behind the warehouse, almost crashing into a garbage dumpster as he struggled, unsuccessfully, to make out the license plate through the uneven street light. After about fifty yards the van barreled north onto another side street and disappeared into Miami's traffic-clogged arteries.

Stunned, Perez stopped and called Bradley at home to tell him about the burglary.

 


BRADLEY'S COMPANY, BIOMED PLUS, ONE OF THE LARGEST PRIVATE wholesale distributors of blood products, sells fragile plasma derivatives and other specialty medicines to doctors' offices, hospitals, and even competing wholesale companies.

The thieves had headed directly for a freezer that contained blood products destined for patients with compromised immune systems, hemophilia, and other rare disorders. All told, they had taken 344 vials of clear liquids that for many patients meant the difference between life and death. Some of the vials cost almost $4,000 apiece. The heist was worth about $335,000.

What bothered Bradley most was not what they had taken but when. The break-in occurred just hours after the delivery of a shipment that included a rare formula called NovoSeven to help hemophiliacs form blood clots. The thieves had taken all of it. Bradley spent the next day—in the hours before boarding the cruise—hiring an armed security guard for $8,000 a month, repairing the damaged door, and installing new locks and metal gates for $150,000. He also arranged for several of his employees to take lie detector tests.

 Then he reported the theft to the Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services, a regulatory requirement that was sure to solve nothing. The inspector he knew there, Cesar Arias, a tousled Cuban-American with a chipped front tooth whose heart was certainly in his job, had no juice whatsoever. One glance at the man's car, a dilapidated blue Buick that looked like it had been pulled off a junk heap, told the story of his agency's budget woes.

The local cops took a report, but they were too busy chasing cocaine and other street drugs to care much about a theft of clotting factor.

But Bradley knew the stolen vials posed a serious danger. The medicine inside was for critical care. It had to remain motionless at a constant temperature and could only be transported with careful planning. At best, it would become useless to a patient and at worst, might do harm. Bradley also worried that the men in the van would return. Or that next time they would come back armed when his employees were there.

Bradley shared these fears with two of his managers, who also stayed in their cabins during the cruise, drinking and avoiding the festivities. On the last day during the group photograph, the three men looked uneasy amid the smiling, well-tanned sales force.

Bradley was in the ship's cocktail lounge waiting to disembark when his cell phone rang. His purchasing manager, Marlene Caceres, was calling about a deal that had been offered in Bradley's absence. A small pharmaceutical wholesale company, the Stone Group, had called and sent faxes offering to sell some plasma derivatives. Bradley had done business with the fledgling company before.

 The pharmaceutical wholesale market operates as an all-hours auction, with deals and discounts materializing suddenly and medicine passing through many hands. And while few patients know that these middlemen exist, much of the nation's medicine passes through companies like Bradley's BioMed Plus and the Stone Group. On this deal, the Stone Group had made a typical pitch.

But as Caceres read off the details of the offer, Bradley said, "I don't believe it." Everything she mentioned—including twenty-two vials of NovoSeven at 1.2 milligrams, another twenty-nine at 4.8 milligrams, along with specific amounts of Gammimune, Gammagard, and Iveegam, all for the steeply discounted price of $229,241—was identical to his list of stolen goods, right down to the specific quantities. The medicine was too rare and was almost never traded freely. Bradley knew the medicine was his.


 2. Flamingos in Missouri

Spring 2002

Harvester, Missouri


AT THE DOOR OF HIS MODEST TRACT HOUSE, ED BLOUNT STOOPED to pick up the morning paper when he caught sight of the shiny pink shapes on his lawn. They were staked into the dewy grass right next to his pickup. They had not been there last night. A slow smile warmed his face, weathered from years of outdoor work. "Maxine," he called into the house, which sat amid one-story homes with unguarded bicycles and open garage doors in St. Louis's oldest suburb. "Come here. I want to show you something."

His sixty-year-old wife came slowly behind him wrapped in a bathrobe and tried to focus on the lawn. In addition to everything else, Maxine thought her vision must be going. But the shapes out front were unmistakable: A small flock of pink flamingos, shiny plastic birds on spikes, had been stuck into the ground.

She laughed out loud, delighted by the mystery, the pink birds just the latest gift from a secret group of friends. Since she had gotten sick, they had brought flowers, cards, and candies, but had never revealed their names. Maxine, in turn, had printed up posters with a picture of a rat, offering a reward to anyone who could help identify her friends. But the secret persisted and the gifts continued. Maxine loved a good conspiracy.

 When her breast cancer returned in the spring of 2001, after a mastectomy that had allowed her several years of good health, Maxine underwent chemotherapy. Her son, Bill, who had left the house at eighteen, moved back home to be with her.

Her friends did everything they could to boost her spirits. Maxine had visitors all day long, first at the Mailboxes Eta store she ran in nearby O'Fallon, and then later at home when her health deteriorated. Her friend Patti Silvey, a bank branch manager, drove her to Illinois to buy lottery tickets for a $206 million jackpot that she didn't win. She enjoyed the trip nonetheless. Maxine liked to gamble and still went to the casinos, which made her feel lucky.

On good days when her energy came back, she again commanded the big rough-hewn kitchen, and her touches were everywhere, from the family photos taped to the refrigerator to the cheerful posters that brightened the walls. For years Maxine fed her husband and their six children here, cooking two meals every day from scratch, one before and one after work. Three children came from Ed's first marriage, one from her first, and two from their twenty-eight-year marriage. They had met when she walked into a bowling alley one night. Ed, thirteen years her senior, a lanky contractor with a delicate manner and big, rough hands, was immediately drawn to her sparkle and wit. It took three years to bring their families together.

She had such abundant energy that everyone around her came to rely on it. She not only ran the household, prepared the meals, paid all the bills, worked as a notary public, and held a succession of full-time jobs, but also was active in local Republican politics.


 A box of plaques attested to the impression she made: KIWANIS OF THE YEAR from the local Kiwanis club; FRANCHISEE OF THE YEAR from Mailboxes Etc.; BEST SALESPERSON from the Harry Lloyd Toy Company, a job that had sent her traveling all over the world.

When the O'Fallon Chamber of Commerce named her PERSON OF THE YEAR, the state Senate had passed a resolution recognizing Maxine as an outstanding citizen and community leader. Her "infectious smile, twinkle in her eye, and wicked sense of humor continue to make those she meets feel special," the resolution declared and was signed by John Ashcroft, then a Missouri senator. She had already been elected the next president of the O'Fallon Chamber of Commerce when her illness interfered.

Largely self-educated, she also was an avid reader, particularly of legal thrillers. At one time she had wanted to work as an investigator for a law firm and fancied herself a minor sleuth. She wanted to know all about the world—how it worked, who pulled the strings, and where the hidden interests lay.

 


IN 2002 MAXINE FELL INTO THE EXCRUCIATING TORPOR OF ANEMIA, the result of her red blood cell count plummeting under the onslaught of toxic chemotherapy.

In March her doctor prescribed Procrit, a medicine that fights anemia by stimulating red blood cell growth. She picked up the vials of clear solution in a nearby pharmacy in St. Peter's and went to a local clinic for injections. The weekly shots of Procrit, at the highest dose of 40,000 units per milliliter (U/mL), had a dramatic energizing effect.

To Maxine, the medicine was like liquid gold—and at almost $2,000 for four tiny vials, it cost far more. The family health insurance, which Ed got through the automotive union by doing maintenance at a car dealership, covered most of it. The co-payment alone was $100.

 Also sold under the brand name of Epogen, the medicine is a triumph of genetic engineering. And though Maxine did not pretend to understand the science, she was grateful for the result. "This is a wonder drug," she told Ed after one weekly injection. "It makes you feel great." She looked forward every Wednesday to getting her Procrit.

At the clinic, the medicine generally burned as it entered her body, so the nurse injected it slowly. Then one day, the injection didn't burn anymore. The change was so marked that she said to the nurse, "I must be getting used to it."

But her anemia returned. She grew tired again. Her world contracted. She struggled to get out of bed. Sometimes she made it to the kitchen she once dominated, ate, and returned to bed. Other times she was unable to get up at all.

Fighting to maintain her routine, she slipped farther behind, as though life was a treadmill going too fast and she was falling off the back end. She felt almost as if she hadn't taken the Procrit. She was sicker the day after her injections than she was the day before. Her doctor considered upping the amount she took.

She viewed this decline as her fault, as though somehow she had failed to get better and to engage the world as she had always done, and this feeling became painful to her, separate and apart from her disease.

It was in June, months after she first started taking the medicine, that an astute nurse at her clinic held one of Maxine's vials to the light and studied the label.

Any nurse who administers powerful medicine fears deadly accidents, the possibility of zeros added or decimal points moved by a tired pharmacist or lab technician hurriedly translating a doctor's scrawled order. This kind of mistake can kill a patient, sometimes almost as quickly as if you took out a gun and pulled the trigger. It was the kind of nightmare that made you square the dose on the label against the dose recorded in the chart.

 But the nurse was now scrutinizing Maxine's vials for a different reason. Days before, the clinic had received a letter from Ortho Biotech, the drug company that sold her medicine, warning that a counterfeit product labeled as Procrit 40,000 U/mL with the lot number Poo2384 had been circulating and was actually one-twentieth of its labeled strength. To the naked eye, the two products were indistinguishable.

This notice came on the heels of a first warning from the company about a different lot, Poo2641. The letter did not say how the company had detected the counterfeits. But it stated:

 


It appears that counterfeiters may be acquiring PROCRIT 2,000 U/mL vials and relabeling the product with counterfeit 40,000 U/mL labels. Because of the lower than labeled strength of the counterfeit vials, it is possible that patients could be under-dosed. In addition, other potential health risks cannot be ruled out at this time.


 


As the nurse studied the vial no bigger than a thumbnail, she noticed negligible imperfections: a blurry letter here, text a little squished there, and almost invisible lines running diagonally through the zeros in the printed lot number, Poo2384.

Suddenly Maxine's situation took on a strange new shape: Her medicine was counterfeit and her body had become a crime scene. How much tainted medicine had she received? Most of the evidence had been dispersed inside her, the empty vials discarded, the ultimate effect on her health unknown.


 At the time, Missourians were more familiar than most with the notion of adulterated medicine. Ten months earlier a Kansas City pharmacist named Robert Courtney had been charged with diluting the prescriptions of cancer patients and selling the extra medicine for profit. Courtney had locked eyes with his patients, taken their prescriptions, befriended them, and exploited their trust. He had also very likely shortened their lives.

Eventually he admitted diluting seventy-two different drugs over a decade—affecting some 4,000 patients.

The public viewed Courtney as an anomalous evil in an otherwise safe system, in which the American drug supply was inviolable, guarded by regulators and laws carrying severe penalties for those who tampered with it.

A Missouri judge, in sentencing Courtney to thirty years in prison, reinforced the notion that his crimes were unique. Calling his conduct a shock to the conscience of the country, he said, "You alone have changed the way a nation thinks. The way a nation thinks about pharmacists. The way the nation thinks about prescription medication. The way a nation thinks about those institutions that we trusted blindly."

Even a year after Courtney was caught, the New York Times Magazine described him as "consigned to freakdom in the annals of pharmacology." In other words, his conduct was rare and so profoundly demented that it seemed unlikely anyone might repeat it. When Ed Blount learned about the diluted Procrit, he thought immediately of Courtney—of "some guy in a back room, cutting it," as he said.

But Courtney was not the explanation now. A partial explanation lay 1,200 miles away in South Florida, where a dangerous gray market in stolen and counterfeit drugs made Courtney's activities seem minor by contrast.


 Maxine, who knew none of this, approached the problem in her typical fact-finding way. She called Schnucks pharmacy in St. Peter's, where she had purchased the medicine, and the staff pointed her not to the drugmaker, but to a company that she had never heard of, Cardinal Health Inc. That company, a big pharmaceutical distributor in Ohio, had sold the medicine to Schnucks. The pharmacy had no idea what had gone wrong.

The clinic that had detected the counterfeits contacted the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Three FDA investigators accompanied by the local sheriff came to the Blount home and stayed for hours, asking dozens of questions and documenting everything. They took several of the suspect vials for testing. The Blounts stored the rest in their refrigerator.

Their daughter, Tina, a hairdresser in a Kansas City salon, found herself telling a regular customer what had happened to her mother. The man was an attorney at a prominent Missouri law firm. Lawyers from the firm's St. Louis branch ended up taking Maxine's case. In September 2002, they filed a lawsuit alleging negligence against Amgen Inc., the drugmaker; Ortho Biotech Inc., the company that labeled and sold the Procrit under an agreement with Amgen; and Cardinal Health Inc., the distributor.

Before this, Maxine had never once worried about the purity of her medicine. She assumed that it traveled to her pharmacy along a safe and controlled route. Schnucks was a well-established chain with more than one hundred branches in seven states. There were no warning flags or perceptible risks in filling her prescription. Now, all her certainty had been replaced by unanswered questions.

Who had counterfeited her drugs? Where had the tainted medicine entered the supply chain? Should the manufacturer have recalled the Procrit, like carmakers do when defects come to light? How come no one, including government investigators, could tell her where her drugs had been? How did she know if her other medicine was legitimate? Why go through agonizing treatments if she couldn't be sure?

 In his work as a contractor, Ed had always been good at seeing how things fit together and the structure that lay beneath them. While the infrastructure that had supported the counterfeiting remained invisible to him, he knew from experience that it must be deep. Seated at the kitchen table with his hands around a coffee mug, he asked, "What greater conspiracy could there be than people counterfeiting medicine?"


 3. Is Anything Okay?

November 2001

South Florida


THREE MONTHS BEFORE THE BURGLARY AT BIOMED PLUS, CESAR Arias was in his Buick Century amid documents, boxes, old coffee cups, and medicine bottles when his cell phone rang. A detective with the Miami-Dade Police Department was on the line. "You're the pharmaceutical guru in South Florida, right? We got a kid here caught stealing medicine from Jackson [Miami's largest public hospital] and reselling it to a guy in Broward. He says he wants to talk. Can you come down?"

Arias got this type of call all the time. The cops were always gunning for "drug crimes," which to them meant cocaine, heroin, or marijuana. They had little training and no separate department to handle crimes involving prescription medicine. In effect Arias was, the department. He worked for the understaffed Bureau of Statewide Pharmaceutical Services (BSPS), a small backwater within the sprawling health department responsible for protecting Floridians from adulterated, expired, or mishandled medicine.

In his frayed guayabera shirt and worn khakis, gray sprinkling his once-dark hair, the forty-seven-year-old inspector spent most of his days driving up and down South Florida's highways to regulate drug manufacturers, oxygen distributors, and pharmaceutical wholesale companies. As a drug agent supervisor, Arias also oversaw three inspectors whom he largely left alone. He was rarely at his desk. He had no mind for management and no gift for office politics. A pharmacist by training, he was a medicine detective and could glance at a label or a pill and see depredations that few others could spot. Invisible to the public and overlooked by his supervisors, Arias had worked this job for the last fourteen years.

 Now as he steered his Buick toward the police department in the crawl of rush-hour traffic, he returned to one of his usual preoccupations. Had the time to quit his job arrived? He wondered if there was a way to resign that would make a lasting political statement and embarrass his bosses in Tallahassee. He had entertained this thought before, usually when the drug supply and the atmosphere within his own bureau grew especially toxic.

As one of only nine drug inspectors to regulate 2,699 businesses statewide, he was thwarted by weak, outdated laws and apathy from Tallahassee, where the streets rolled up and the bureaucrats set their phones on redirect by 4:30 P.M. each day. Over the years he had watched pharmacists become drug inspectors hoping to better protect the public, only to give up in the face of entrenched political interests. His former colleague, Robert Loudis, had left to become a pharmacy manager at Walgreens, complaining that he often felt like a "potted plant," ordered not to interfere with the drugstore chains that had political pull, even when they flouted the regulations.

Years earlier Loudis and another inspector had gone to an Eckerd's pharmacy that had just installed an automated pill-counting machine. The pharmacists there had failed to label each bin with the medicine's expiration date and lot number, which drugmakers assign uniquely to each specific batch. This left no way for the pills in the bins to be identified in case a drug needed to be recalled.


 Loudis and the other inspector immediately quarantined the sorted pills, imposing what is known as a "stop sale" on hundreds of thousands of dollars of inventory. Eckerd's, a political powerhouse in the state, began making phone calls. Within weeks, the men's bosses in Tallahassee ordered them to lift the stop sale for the most expensive drugs, but allowed them to maintain it on the inexpensive generics.

The inspectors never forgot this. During the four years Loudis worked for the department, he had kept a special file at the ready marked "Tallahassee" for directives sent to him by headquarters. It remained empty. There were few directives from Tallahassee except the unspoken one: do as little as possible. Unsurprisingly, turnover within the bureau was high and morale low.

Why Arias had not yet quit remained a mystery to those who loved him. His wife, an accountant, could not understand why he tolerated the archaic bureaucracy and petty insults of state employment. His mother did not see the logic in settling for a $30,000 pay cut when he could make six figures at Eckerd's or CVS as a pharmacist. His father agreed that his son appeared to be treading water, having sacrificed money and freedom for a job in which he was unappreciated and underpaid.

Even the wholesalers he regulated, like Marty Bradley, regarded Arias with curiosity and pity. "Did you see his car?" Bradley asked. "They should give that guy more muscle." But the Buick—with more than 100,000 miles on it, rust outside and stains inside, and a passenger door that wouldn't shut properly—actually suited Arias's purpose. It let him drive into Miami's worst neighborhoods and visit storefront pharmacies and clinics without arousing any suspicion.

Arias had a stubborn, oxlike temperament that he had inherited from his parents. In Cuba, his mother had been a pediatrician and his father the country's director of engineering for the department of public works until they left Castro and all their possessions behind in 1961. They arrived in America fiercely committed to upward mobility and cleaned hotel rooms and picked tomatoes until they were able to resume their professions.

 But Arias didn't care about money. Being a pharmacist at a chain drugstore, a cog in someone else's corporate wheel, held no appeal. He had a different obsession, and evidence of it lay scattered around the Buick: letters to politicians, drafts of opinion pieces to newspapers, and e-mails to his superiors, documenting the dangers to the drug supply that he witnessed every day. He wrote them late at night after his wife and three sons had gone to sleep.

He had no idea if anyone read his missives, but he suspected not. His most recent treatise—"Pharmaceutical Drug Diversion, the Medicaid Monster!"—was somewhere in the pile. The three-page letter to his bureau chief, Jerry Hill, described in sometimes hard-to-follow detail one of the schemes that he saw every day.

Pass any Medicaid clinic in South Florida and you'd see Hummers and BMWs idling outside, their occupants just waiting for patients to exit with their government-paid medicine, which the patients often were willing to sell for ready cash. In his letter, Arias explained that the buyers or "runners" would bring this street medicine to their bosses, corrupt wholesalers who would remove the patient dispensing labels with lighter fluid or paint remover, and resell the medicine as new, despite a telltale sticky trace on the box where the original labels had been.

The drugs would circle in this revolving door—distributed, sold, and resold, Medicaid paying for it each time—until a retail pharmacy dispensed the drugs to an unwitting patient (who would end up taking medicine now degraded by the handling) or until the box became too beat up to be saleable.

 Arias's letter was dramatic in tone as it warned of skyrocketing Medicaid costs and grave public health dangers. He had copied this one to various authorities and reiterated the main points at every opportunity. The response, as usual, was silence. At such moments he would ask of the drug supply, "Is anything okay?" And of his agency's performance in securing it: "We have met the enemy and they is us."

In fairness, his bosses were not the only ones who disregarded him. For years, he had tried to get other law enforcement agencies to pursue the cases he developed. The Florida Department of Law Enforcement, the Miami-Dade Police Department, the Food and Drug Administration, and the FBI had ignored him at various times too.

 


ON BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, ARIAS CUT ACROSS FOUR LANES OF wild traffic and pulled into the familiar parking lot of the police operations bureau. This small branch office responded to crime at Jackson Memorial Hospital and at Miami's cacophonous port along the city's southeast coast.

Arias headed up the stairs of the honeycomb-shaped building and into the air-conditioned offices. In a small back room several detectives stood watching a tall, cocoa-complexioned young man handcuffed to a chair.

Sydney Dean Jones, twenty-five and a Jamaican native, looked impassively at them, his handsome face framed by small hoop earrings. He had accepted their offer of a Coca-Cola and asked for his lawyer. Within weeks he would agree to cooperate fully, divulging with some pride the scheme he had developed and the lifestyle it allowed.


 Things of value walked out of Jackson Memorial all the time, as he explained. The monolithic public facility was bigger than some towns, with 1,700 beds for patients, 11,000 employees, and more than 500 exterior doors among its adjacent buildings. The hospital not only cared for the sick and indigent; it also fed a thriving black market for durable medical equipment, from glucometers and defibrillators to anesthesia machines. While the stream of theft strained the hospital's coffers, it also helped to prop up the underground economies of Little Havana and other cash-starved Miami barrios, allowing the small medical businesses that lined the streets to resell the equipment.

Eloquent and in training to become a pharmacist, Jones did not work for Jackson Memorial. He had been employed briefly by Cardinal Health Inc., a multi-billion-dollar, publicly traded company headquartered in Dublin, Ohio. Cardinal, one of the nation's three biggest pharmaceutical wholesalers, is a medicine middleman, buying from the nation's drugmakers and reselling to major pharmacy chains and hospitals. It was the same company that had sold Maxine Blount's Procrit to Schnucks pharmacy. In other branches of its business, Cardinal also served as an all-purpose helpmate—staffing the nation's pharmacies and hospitals through a roster of temp workers and helping them to automate services and improve their medicine packaging. Jones, one of the part-time pharmacy workers in the company's army, was called in to do an odd shift here and there at Jackson Memorial and pharmacies in the area.

Since age sixteen, Jones had worked at a neighborhood pharmacy, helping behind the counter and delivering medicine to elderly customers. The pharmacist there became like a second father to him. His own father was a respected police officer in nearby Hollywood. Jones went on to complete a college degree in biology and enroll in pharmacy school. The flexibility of his job with Cardinal allowed him time to study and play evening basketball. It also gave him ready access to expensive prescription medicine.

 Technically, Jones had only worked one shift as a Cardinal employee at the Jackson Memorial pharmacy. But with his lab coat, the security code to enter the pharmacy, a temporary ID card, and an air of legitimacy, he entered easily and once inside tried to look busy. On five separate occasions he had reached into a small refrigerator and put tiny vials of medicine into his pockets. Neupogen, which helps cancer patients to fight infection, was among the drugs he took. A single box, which contained ten vials of the clear liquid, sold for about $2,000. Unlike narcotic painkillers such as Oxycontin and Dilaudid that were known to have a high street value and were kept under lock and key, the far more expensive and fragile drugs to treat cancer and AIDS were left unlocked and within reach.

Just weeks earlier, Jones had been arrested and charged with similar crimes at two branches of a Humana pharmacy chain in Boca Raton and in Plantation, where his company had sent him to work. Without authorization he had ordered medicine from Cardinal and charged it to the Humana chain. His haul included three injectable medicines, each genetically engineered to help strengthen patients undergoing chemotherapy, kidney, and AIDS treatments.

Jones generally brought the medicine to his contact, a man he called "Fred" who worked at Memorial West Hospital up in Pembroke Pines. Each week for the last seven months, Jones had handed Fred, an Iranian whose real name was Fariborz Sheie, $10,000 to $30,000 worth of medicine in the hospital parking lot. Sheie then sold it to a woman up north and later paid Jones his cut in cash—about a third of the value of the drugs.


 Jones saw this as a low-risk way to make extra money, which he used for pharmacy school and helping friends with rent and other expenses. He thought of it as a Robin Hood scheme, though admittedly it also helped him pay for a leased Mercedes-Benz and gifts for his girlfriend of the moment, a Russian model who would later become a Playboy cover girl. "We live in a society where everyone wants to have some kind of pleasure," Jones later explained. "The average cop is looking for the hard-core drugs. Criminals just figure, 'We can get real medication for real money that no one will ever know.'"

But they did know. In September, three months after Jones began pilfering from the Jackson Memorial freezer, an alert technician caught him stuffing medicine into his pants pocket. A video surveillance camera also captured the grainy but unmistakable image of him reaching into the freezer.

Two months before Jones's arrest, officers had responded to Jackson Memorial's artificial kidney department, where a door had been shattered and a small refrigerator stolen from an office that was usually left open. The refrigerator contained 210 vials of Epogen, the injectable liquid used to boost the red blood cell count of dialysis patients. The medicine was worth about $24,000.

In September and later in November, a chain of dialysis clinics around South Florida suffered similar thefts. Some of the cops who responded wondered why anyone would steal Epogen, since you couldn't get high off it. But Arias and the detectives who arrested Sydney Jones knew the motive: The thieves could resell the medicine for big money.

Once the drugs were stolen they were technically adulterated, since their origin and quality could not be ensured. As stolen medicine passed from hand to hand in this street-level trade, it could reenter the supply chain and even wind up sold to the very hospitals and pharmacies from which it had been taken.

 Despite this threat to public health, Jones's scheme presented Arias with an all-too-familiar enforcement problem. Crimes of medicine were usually prosecuted under the state's flimsy administrative health code, Statute 499, its penalties amounting to a slap on the wrist. Under this statute, Jones's conduct, taking illegal possession of medicine with intent to sell, would at most result in probation and a $250 fine. That is why Arias spent so much time trying to make the police care about stolen medicine—so that Jones and those like him would face felony criminal charges that carried the prospect of prison. In short, he needed someone with a badge and a gun to help him secure the drug supply.

The Miami-Dade detectives also faced difficulties. Sydney Jones's case presented jurisdictional issues, because he had resold the medicine in a different county from the one where he had stolen it. They needed someone with jurisdiction over it all to take Jones's case.

 


AT THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT'S SMALL branch office in Fort Lauderdale, Gary Venema looked up wordlessly as his supervisor stepped into his cramped, windowless office. It was a rare day that Venema, a special agent at FDLE, had little to say.

Even at his most subdued, Venema was impossible not to notice. A big, sandy-haired man of fifty with a wise-ass grin, he had a magnetic, even manic, presence that drew every eye in a room. Typically he greeted his supervisor, Michael Mann, with a burst of verbiage—random facts, ribald jokes, new evidence from the big case that they had been working on for two years. He talked as though patching the listener in to an ongoing conversation with himself.

 Today his down mood was evident. Though dressed with his usual exuberance in a bright, rumpled Hawaiian shirt and a gold sailboat charm around his neck, he said nothing. Instead, Mann started the conversation: "You're doing a one-day sting for Miami-Dade," he said, explaining that the matter of Sydney Jones was a nothing case, a "hit-and-run," as they called it. Mann offered that maybe it would connect a dot or two in their own investigation of drugstore thefts. Venema—two decades older than most of his other agents—let out a skeptical grunt.

Mann, who wore his usual gray suit with a gun strapped to his ankle, was skeptical too. The Sydney Jones case as described by the Miami-Dade detective sounded like a dog. The multi-county problem was the usual excuse for dumping cases on FDLE, the police agency that had statewide jurisdiction.

All Mann and Venema wanted to do was work on their big case, which involved the theft of over-the-counter goods from pharmacy chains. Thieves were stealing millions of dollars in diabetes test strips, razor blades, aspirin, and electric toothbrush tips. They shoveled these items into beach bags lined with aluminum foil, which defeated security buzzers, and walked out the front door. The major chains, CVS and Eckerd's among them, were the victims of this organized scheme, in which stolen goods were shuttled to fences or middlemen and then sold across state lines.

Three months ago, Mann had reached out to a federal prosecutor and criminal investigators from the FDA so they could hunt down the out-of-state criminals. But the feds had remained noncommittal and the prosecutor never called back, effectively sidelining their big case.


 The feds' lack of interest had left Venema despondent and angry. And now he figured that he was being dragged into a time-waster involving a Miami kid who pilfered cancer medicine from a hospital freezer. At the time, he had no way to imagine where the case of Sydney Jones might lead.

Venema drove home that night to his one-story ranch house in Davie, a community west of Fort Lauderdale, angrily thinking about the Feds. A former cop with twenty-four years' experience, fifteen as a homicide and narcotics detective in Hialeah, Venema's days of adrenaline-pumping shootouts and marathon shifts of pulling dead bodies out of social clubs were long gone. In 1991, after a bad political clash, the Hialeah police chief demoted him to a road sergeant. Venema spent the next six years supervising cops who responded to car wrecks and petty mischief complaints and helped to secure major crime scenes until his former colleagues, the detectives, showed up.

He had jumped at the chance to join FDLE, an agency with power and panache and notoriously low pay. Despite all his experience, his starting salary was $42,000. He was the oldest guy in his academy class by at least a decade. Many of his new colleagues were just a few years older than his three sons. But he enjoyed the training and liked shooting his gun lavishly during target practice, since the agency didn't ration the ammo. Almost immediately he embarked on the drugstore theft case and felt sure he had a winner—one that would reverse his long run of bad luck.

At home, he parked his pickup truck in the driveway beneath his bright front lights and the mahogany tree growing at a tilt and headed up the brick path, past the American flags sprouting from the lawn. The tidy houses in this neighborhood heavily concentrated with cops sat elbow-to-elbow on less-than-quarter-acre plots, each adorned with American flags since the terror attacks of September II.

 Inside, his wife, Sandy, had made a healthy dinner, since Venema's blood pressure had been climbing again. She noticed that he seemed low. After twenty-four years of marriage, she was used to his down moods after work setbacks. After eating, Venema sat on the back porch, which overlooked a small pool and, farther down by the lake, the gazebo and dock that he built years ago. The sound of the wind chimes that Sandy had hung soothed him and helped quiet the tape loop in his head, which these days inevitably started with the words "Fuck the Feds."


 4. The R Word

November 2001

Fort Lauderdale, Florida


 


WHENEVER DRUG INSPECTOR ARIAS CAME TO THE BRINK OF quitting, he tended to fall back on the hope that change lay right around the corner. On November 13, he felt hopeful as he drove to a meeting at the Statewide Prosecutor's Office to discuss the matter of Sydney Jones. He viewed any sit-down with a prosecutor or law enforcement agent as a golden opportunity to make them care about dangerous medicine.

For the other inspectors and investigators headed to the prosecutor's office, Sydney Jones was a minor felon amid a blur of more urgent cases. The FDLE agent Gary Venema arrived tired and unshaven and wanted the meeting to be short. He knew nothing about prescription medicine and had never met Arias or some of the other investigators. He was surprised as they filed in to see the Healthcare Fraud Priority Leader. She turned out to be Assistant Statewide Prosecutor Stephanie Feldman, a petite twenty-eight-year-old with five years' trial experience who stood about five feet one inch in heels.

Dwarfed by her desk, Feldman listened silently as those assembled described how Jones had been caught stealing medicine from Jackson Memorial in Miami-Dade County, had been planning to resell it to someone in Broward County, and was willing to cooperate. That is, if she was interested.


 Feldman usually remained steely at work, her expression dull and slightly menacing as though to warn those who failed to take her seriously. Bridging her hands together and gazing through silver-rimmed glasses, Feldman said coolly, "Let's set up a wire on Jones and see who he sells to."

Venema, who had been brooding silently, became instantly alert, wondering whether she might be interested in his unprosecuted case of over-the-counter thefts at drugstores. Similar wheels turned in the heads of the other investigators, as they mentally catalogued their stalled and overlooked cases and thought, here was a prosecutor who seemed ready to work.

Feldman, all business, handed out assignments: Arias was to procure the medicine that would be used in the sting operation. Venema was to get his agency to charter a surveillance plane so the group could track Jones's medicine as it moved (tailing a vehicle in the traffic-clogged streets and highways of South Florida was dangerous and often impossible). A Broward detective was assigned the task of wiring Jones.

With one phone call, Feldman had Jones's case transferred from Miami, where a local prosecutor was all too eager to unload what appeared to be a humdrum case of theft from a hospital freezer.

 


CESAR ARIAS WENT HOME THAT NIGHT WOWED—SIMPLY BLOWN away—by the idea of a surveillance plane for medicine. He never dreamed that so big and high-tech an instrument could be deployed in the service of what he did every day. For years, he had fought a losing battle with his bureau to equip the inspectors with thermometers so they could measure the temperature at which drugs were stored, as required by state statute. The health department's lawyer had determined that thermometers could be unreliable and their results challenged in court and therefore should not be used. Now Feldman was talking about an airplane.

 Arias had first met the young prosecutor a few weeks earlier. He and a federal agent had gone to talk to her about a prescription drug wholesaler who they suspected was selling stolen medicine. After the U.S. Justice Department had turned down the agent's request to run a wiretap, the men hoped to interest a state prosecutor instead. To that meeting Arias also had brought along his perpetual sidekick, a seventy-two-year-old drug inspector named Gene Odin.

Odin, a registered pharmacist with a Ph.D. in medicinal chemistry, had an impish wit and two hearing aids that often conked out. He had no intention of retiring anytime soon and regularly gave Arias hell if excluded from anything, no matter how dull or unpromising. Because of the health department's depleted resources, Odin was solely responsible for regulating the drug businesses in twelve counties.

The two men had worked together for thirteen years and, if not exactly soul mates, were inseparable allies. Each relied on the other's strengths and knew the other's weaknesses.

The two inspectors had uncovered crack houses stocked like pharmacies with pills, vials, and brand-name medicines bound for patients through clandestine back-room sales. They had found pills packaged with cotton that was tattered and yellow with dirt, and intravenous containers with mold inside. All too often, they came across boxes and bottles of delicate medicine that had been "cleaned" with lighter fluid or torched with heat guns to remove or affix labels so that the drugs could be resold.

That day at Feldman's office, they told her that for years they had tried to get someone, anyone, interested in prosecuting the theft and illegal resale of pharmaceuticals, but they had no takers. As health inspectors, they had jurisdiction over almost nothing and had only "Mickey Mouse" weapons at their disposal.

 To Feldman, the cause of their problem was obvious: The penalties for diverting or misbranding medicine—misdemeanors and insignificant fines—were far too low to interest federal prosecutors.

After listening to their description of the case involving the wholesaler, she told the FDA agent, "Bring me all your files." For once, Odin was silent. Arias, astounded by her interest, stood up and actually took her hand, shedding his habitual reticence. "I just want to touch you because I want to know if you're real," he said, almost but not really joking.

Odin, similarly stunned, asked, "Do you like these kinds of cases?"

 


FELDMAN DID LIKE THESE CASES AND WANTED TO PROSECUTE them. In part she saw a career opportunity because no one else would touch them. She also was the clearing house for all the state's health-care cases; any potentially criminal matter with a polysyllabic medical term got thrown to her. But there was also a personal reason for her interest: Her life depended on the integrity of her medicine.

Just weeks before Arias and Odin's visit, she had been admitted to the hospital in a coma, the latest chapter in her on-going battle with juvenile diabetes, the disease's most severe form. She had been managing diabetes since age fourteen. She gave herself insulin shots five times a day and regularly took Neurontin, a medicine that helped restore sensation in her feet. She also had received home infusions of an injectable antibiotic, Rocephin, for treatment of a kidney infection that had resulted from her diabetes.


 She rode these waves of disease, snatching control wherever she could, persisting through iron discipline and the syringe of insulin that she always carried with her.

In her family, too, medicine had been everything. Her father had owned nursing homes. Now eighty-three, he took Coumadin to help prevent heart attacks. Her mother, a geriatric nurse, had been killed in a car accident when Feldman was only seven. She believed that her mother's death, and the inadequate investigation that followed it, had sparked her later interest in being a prosecutor. Her entire upbringing and experience made her the person to care about what Arias and Odin were saying.

 


ON THE STORMY, OVERCAST MORNING OF NOVEMBER 15, SEVENTEEN officers from five agencies, including Arias and Venema, teamed up in unmarked cars near the Memorial West Hospital in Pembroke Pines. Sydney Jones, who had been wired with a recording device in a nearby Holiday Inn, was dispatched to the hospital parking lot with $50,000 worth of Neupogen. From a surveillance van, the investigators videotaped and listened in as Jones handed off his loot to Fariborz Sheie, an older man with gloomy hazel eyes who worked as a maintenance engineer at the hospital. As Sheie drove to the other side of the parking lot, the investigators noticed a blue minivan following close behind. Sheie stopped and handed off the medicine to its driver, a man with a mullet haircut and wraparound sunglasses.

The man in sunglasses turned out to be far more wary than Sheie. With the investigators on his tail, he kept looking in his rearview mirror as he drove north to his home in Shenandoah. He obviously detected or "made" the surveillance, as Venema would note in a later report. He began maneuvers to shake off the cops, making wide turns, zooming through shopping malls, doubling back along side streets. The cops responded with maneuvers of their own but ended up losing him. The surveillance plane, socked in by unusually heavy clouds, also lost him. An hour later, the team picked up his van as it returned to the hospital parking lot. Feeling spooked, the man in sunglasses had decided to return the medicine to Sheie and thereby rid himself of the evidence.

 The cops moved in on both men separately and threatened them with arrest and prosecution unless they agreed to cooperate. Sheie and Melvin Otto, the man in sunglasses, quickly agreed to help the cops.

 


MELVIN OTTO EXPLAINED THAT HIS NEXT STOP WAS TO HAVE been in Palm Beach County, where he planned to deliver the medicine to a woman named Annette Mantia.

Mantia was a licensed drug wholesaler known to Alias's partner Gene Odin. Her business operated in one of Odin's counties, and he had long suspected she used it as a front for illegal activities. Her office was empty whenever Odin stopped by. One time an "assistant" materialized and claimed that she had no records to show him because Mantia had done no business in prescription medicine.

Odin was powerless to revoke her license but got her fined for a minor procedural violation: failing to be available for inspection during regular business hours. While the two had never met face-to-face, she had told him recently over the phone that she planned to give up her license in December.

On the day after the Jones sting, Odin watched as Melvin Otto handed Mantia the Neupogen and she handed him a package that contained $20,000 in cash. The investigators followed her car as she and her daughter went about some errands, the fragile medicine baking in the car trunk. After Mantia emerged from an hour-long appointment at an eye doctor, Odin and Michael Mann from FDLE approached her.

 Reminding her of their earlier phone conversation, Odin asked, "Are you still planning on giving up your permit in December?"

"Is there a problem?" She asked from behind Jackie O sunglasses.

As Mann explained the rather sizeable problem and her daughter started to cry, Mantia said coolly, "It's okay, dear."

 


STEPHANIE FELDMAN FOUND HERSELF THINKING BROADLY ABOUT the Jones case. She wondered if the theft of medicine could be viewed as something larger, not merely as an issue of stolen property but of lost confidence in the drug supply. She figured that any theft raised the possibility that medicine of uncertain origin, transported in unknown conditions, could reach patients.

Could one argue, she wondered as though back in some law school exercise, that Jones had participated in a scheme that defrauded an immutable class of victims, those with diseases such as cancer, AIDS, and diabetes, that required lifelong medication and management? As a discrete class, these people deserved, and were entitled to, legal protection.

Excited, she floated her theory past a senior prosecutor, who laughed dismissively. Her colleague had recently recovered from a heart attack and was not about to tilt after fanciful prosecutions; it took all his energy just to get through the day.


 But Feldman, feeling that she was on to something, continued to think through the facts and the law. If there was some criminal enterprise profiting from stolen medicine, who sat at the top of it? Not Sydney Jones, and almost certainly not his accomplices. Among the four suspects, Annette Mantia was certainly their biggest fish, caught dead to rights in a parking lot handing off cash for stolen medicine. Venema and the others had been eager to arrest her right then.

But Feldman had urged them to wait, explaining that to build a big case they would need a cooperating witness at each level who could lead them to even bigger fish. Since Mantia was not buying and selling that much medicine, logic dictated that someone, somewhere above her, was selling more.

 


SEVERAL DAYS AFTER THE PARKING-LOT STING, FELDMAN SAT opposite Mantia, her daughter, and her lawyer. "You have to promise her immunity," the lawyer commanded.

"Then you can leave my office right now," Feldman said, as though not the least bit concerned. The lawyer stayed put and, as Venema and Arias looked on, they hammered out the formal cooperation agreement that would allow Mantia to help with the investigation.

As soon as they left, Feldman began to expand on her view of the underlying case: If there was a runner stealing from a hospital and a middle person selling it to someone else, that meant there already was a chain of command and an enterprise committing acts of fraud—all with the goal of moving cheap medicine into a high-priced supply chain.

"Racketeering," she announced to Venema and Arias, who had sat in on the meeting with Mantia.


 They were surprised. The "R word," as they called it, was one of the government's strongest weapons. Most prosecutors, not to mention most detectives, ran in the opposite direction from the crazy amount of work needed to build a racketeering case. Arias knew only that the federal government had used racketeering as a tool to prosecute the mob. After years of begging more prosecutors than he could count to take cases, here was a young woman who had offered the R word with no prompting.

 


IN THE FOLLOWING WEEKS, MANTIA TOLD THE INVESTIGATORS about a gray market where buyers and sellers, whether licensed or not, hunted for discounted brand-name drugs and asked few questions about their origin. Though a "legitimate" wholesaler with a state license, she told them that 95 percent of the medicine she sold had been stolen first. Her customers, mostly other wholesale companies, bought even the medicine lacking a veneer of legitimacy, she explained.

By law, medicine was supposed to come with a sales history or "pedigree," like a car title, that tracked the previous owners back to the manufacturer. Mantia's customers referred to these essential records as "paper." Some did not mind if paper was invented to conceal the truth. Others didn't even care about this artifice and would buy medicine without any paper at all.

 


FARIBORZ "FRED" SHEIE, THE FIRST LINK IN SYDNEY JONES'S ILLICIT distribution chain, was an Iranian-born biomedical engineer who made repairs to the physical plants of hospitals around South Florida. He had been well liked at Memorial West until a Broward detective called the hospital's security director to describe the sting and recommend that Sheie no longer be allowed keys to the hospital's locked areas. He lost his job as a result.

 Even before being fired, Sheie struggled with a perpetual cash crunch. He had an ex-wife and a young daughter to support and was addicted to narcotic painkillers. His job gave him some access to the medicine he craved, but he had also come to rely on Jones's deliveries as a way to finance his addiction. Though his wife had left him three years earlier because of this problem, he remained devoted to his daughter and had custody of her every other weekend. He picked her up punctually, never missing a date.

Long before Sheie's arrest, his addiction had made him a hazard on the roads. The police stopped him on three occasions, once for hitting a cyclist and another time for hitting a car stopped at an intersection. In February of 1999, a Broward County police officer pulled him over and found the painkillers Percocet and Vicodin and the muscle relaxant Soma in his car. Unable to walk a straight line, Sheie was arrested for driving under the influence. After losing his job at Memorial West Hospital, he sank into a deep depression.

On January 13, 2002, less than three months after the sting operation, Sheie did not show up as usual to pick up his daughter. His ex-wife found him sitting upright and naked in a living room chair with EKG pads attached to his upper arms and lower abdomen, as though he planned to measure his heart rhythm as it stopped. The medical examiner who performed the autopsy found that his blood was infused with opiates. Sheie died from an overdose.

Devastated, Stephanie Feldman was certain that crucial information had died with him.

***


 THOUGH VENEMA HAD WORKED INTERMITTENTLY ON THE INFORMATION that came from his new informant Annette Mantia, he had remained preoccupied with his case of organized theft from drugstore chains, which seemed larger and more important. But the phone call about Sheie's suicide grabbed his attention and made him wonder if the case of stolen cancer medicine was bigger than he had initially thought. He burst into his supervisor Michael Mann's office and declared, "Fred is dead!"


 5. Medicine in the Laundry Room

January 2002

Miami, Florida


 


WAITING IMPATIENTLY TO DISEMBARK FROM THE JUMBO S.S. Sovereign of the Seas after four terrible nights, Marty Bradley cursed cruise lines and thievery equally. Then he sought advice from the one person whose number he had with him: Cesar Arias at the state's pharmaceutical bureau. He explained to Arias that he believed the Stone Group wanted to sell him back his own medicine.

"Stand by," said Arias excitedly, viewing this unexpected event as a rare opportunity to unravel the theft. He called his new colleague in law enforcement, Gary Venema, with whom he'd worked the Sydney Jones case. He then called back Bradley to relay Venema's advice at top volume. "Buy it back! Buy it back!" Arias yelled as Bradley was herded off the boat.

 


THE STONE GROUP HAD APPARENTLY CALLED WHOLESALE COMPANIES around the country offering to sell the medicine. Even in a market where few buyers inquired about a drug's origin, Bradley's competitors were suspicious: rare blood derivatives, especially NovoSeven, were almost never sold between wholesale companies.


 Bradley was the only one to bite, playing perfectly his role of the chump. He negotiated a price of $229,241, one-third off the typical wholesale cost of $330,000, the dramatic discount suggesting that the medicine was both figuratively and literally a steal.

While Florida authorities expressed surprise at the brazenness of the Stone Group's offer, Bradley thought of it as stupidity. They obviously knew nothing about the medicine they were selling. The drug makers rarely marked it down, and the prices they offered to wholesalers differed by fractions of points, if at all, unlike other medicines with lots of play in the prices. Bradley, as one of the nation's biggest distributors of these blood derivatives, already enjoyed one of the best discounts.

Even if burglars had not just stolen the same drugs from him, how could some "bullshit company out of the blue," as he put it, have a better price than his own? He knew the answer and it was everything that was wrong with today's medicine business: The wholesale market was dominated by don't-ask-don't-tell transactions in which everybody sought the lowest price, regardless of the medicine's origin. And if the price of the drugs didn't tell the whole story, the kid climbing out of the sports car helped clarify it.

That afternoon at Bradley's warehouse, the young Stone Group salesman, Sean Dana, arrived in a souped-up Trans Am. He was wearing shorts and a T-shirt and carried an ice cooler full of the medicine stolen from Bradley just six days earlier.

After Dana dropped off the medicine in the warehouse, Bradley brought him to the conference room, presumably to complete the deal. But as the door swung open, Dana took in the five people arrayed around the conference table: Cesar Arias, Bradley's lawyer, and three Miami-Dade detectives with badges on their belts and guns in holsters.


 In turn, each of them took in Dana, his bewildered pale face, one eye opening wide in shock and the other, a lazy eye, drifting off as though trying to leave the room on its own.

"Why don't you take a seat," one of the detectives suggested. And so Dana shakily sat down as Bradley suppressed an urge to strangle the kid.

When asked if he knew that the medicine had been stolen, Dana stammered, "I don't know anything about that." He explained that he was just a salesman and knew little about where the medicine had come from, having just seen it for the first time that morning.

Watching silently, Arias felt inclined to believe him. Dana seemed clueless, just a sales rep who probably spent every day, all day, on the phone brokering sales. Struggling through a few more questions, Dana then offered that he would like to help but wanted to consult a lawyer first. At that magical word lawyer, the questions had to end. The detectives acquiesced.

After the meeting, Bradley felt little relief. The people who stole from him were still at large. And though he had his medicine back, he would have to destroy it all because he couldn't guarantee that it had been kept at a constant freezing temperature. He also had little faith that the Florida authorities could actually help him, and was dismayed that the investigators had let Dana walk off after the meeting.

 


THE NEXT DAY, AS VENEMA AND ARIAS HEADED BACK TO Bradley's warehouse to photograph the returned medicine, one of the Miami detectives from the interview with Dana reached them. She said the president of the Stone Group, Adam Runsdorf, had called and wanted to cooperate. Runsdorf told her that his firm had purchased the drugs from a company up north in Kissimmee called BTC Wholesale. When pressed, he elaborated that his contact there was a man named Michael Carlow, whom he believed to be the owner. On paper, the owner of BTC was Michael Carlow's brother-in-law, a former mattress salesman named Thomas E. Atkins, Jr.

 BTC was a licensed prescription drug wholesaler in Osceola County near Disney World. In South Florida, the drug inspector Gene Odin had been to two other companies that BTC did business with and had seen BTC records detailing millions of dollars in drug sales. While BTC had passed on the required pedigree records that showed the drugs' previous buyers, Odin told Arias that he suspected the paperwork was bogus.

Carlow, however, was another matter. As much as anyone, his face could have been on the post office wall depicting what was wrong with Florida's medicine business. In the distant past, Carlow had served time in prison for armed robbery and got probation for grand theft. Afterwards, he had owned AIDS clinics and substance abuse treatment programs. In 1998, the state gave his wife, Candace, a prescription drug wholesale license for a company that Carlow ran as president. In June 2000, Carlow was arrested for buying $90,000 of stolen Neupogen in the parking lot of a Miami restaurant, much as Sydney Jones had done on a smaller scale.

Leaving aside his felony record, one would have thought Carlow's arrest in 2000 would have closed the door on his prescription medicine career. He pled guilty, paid a nominal fine, was sentenced to eighteen months probation, and he and his wife voluntarily surrendered their state license—the harshest justice that could be meted out under Florida's weak statute. His alleged involvement with BTC suggested that he might be making a comeback.

 


 THIS NEW INFORMATION CONFIRMED VENEMA'S FEELING THAT the case had more to it than one warehouse rip-off. The aspects of the break-in—the crowbar, the faceless perpetrators, the getaway van, the exorbitant cost of the medicine—had seized his attention in a way that Jones's pilfering could not.

Stephanie Feldman also leaped on the new information about Carlow, a line drawn straight from the robbery to a career criminal. She directed Venema and Arias to go to BTC first thing next morning.

 


THE NEXT MORNING AT 10:00, VENEMA'S RED TRUCK RATTLED UP to a fading little office building in Kissimmee and he and Arias climbed out. They would have missed the company altogether were it not for the letters "BTC" on a door on the second floor. A round-faced man with owl spectacles and dark hair opened the door. It was the registered owner, Thomas Atkins, Jr., whom they had instructed to be there. He stood in a room furnished with a desk, bare shelves, and a device in one corner that packed Styrofoam peanuts into boxes. The only medicine was four damaged boxes of nitroglycerine patches to treat chest pain in a cabinet marked "Quarantine" above an empty refrigerator. Atkins had a phone pressed to his ear and was talking to his lawyer in Miami.

He showed them a few pieces of paper, including invoices for medicine and the accompanying pedigree records. He said that no company checkbook, delivery receipts, bills of lading, or any other documents were kept on the premises, although the investigators noticed that a manual of BTC policies and procedures included a highlighted copy of the state statute, which specified that all records must be kept on site.

 Atkins declined to answer most of their questions, including queries about Carlow, whom he acknowledged was his brother-in-law. He wouldn't say how he had gone from selling mattresses to selling medicine. As Venema noted in his report on the visit, "He also refused to state who put up the money to get him started, what he does all day, who he ships to, how the shipments are made and how the payments are made.... He also refused to answer how other shipments to other companies were handled, whether any product was ever stored at his business, or who his contacts were."

Atkins did say that he knew nothing about the drugs he was selling, except that some of them needed to be refrigerated, and that his business hours were once a week on Wednesdays.

"Are you basically a front for someone else in this business?" Venema asked.

Atkins refused to answer this question too. But he signed a sworn statement, saying that the invoices he had shown them represented the entirety of BTC's business dealings. These included records of transactions with the Stone Group and a Texas company called El Paso Pharmaceutical Brokers Inc.—which he said sold him Bradley's medicine. He said he had no idea it was stolen. Also included was a record of one transaction with a company in Boca Raton called Omnimed.

 


THE DRUG INSPECTOR AND THE INVESTIGATOR EMERGED FROM the meeting convinced that Atkins was lying and that BTC was nothing more than a shell company, its true nature unclear. On the ride back, Venema started banging out a report on his laptop while Arias drove. Exultant, Arias buzzed Gene Odin on his walkie-talkie phone and shared the details of their visit.

 Odin's thin, bitter voice came back over the speaker: "You're in Kissimmee? And how come I'm not there with you?"

Venema stopped typing and looked up.

Again Odin's voice: "Why is it that the routine shit goes to me but whenever anything is a big case it goes to you? You've got Dade County, Cesar. You can't have the rest of the world."

Cesar wore a grave and chastened expression. "Anyway," Odin continued angrily from his home office in Boynton Beach, "if you want the nineteen other invoices between BTC and Omnimed, you'd better stop in here on your drive down."

After some silence, Venema, who had never met Odin, offered, "God, he sounds pissed."

 


ARIAS AND ODIN INTERACTED LIKE AN OLD MARRIED COUPLE. Odin hated being sidelined and was quick to suspect that if he wasn't vigilant, Arias would leave him out of everything. He resented any time that Arias closed his office door, held a sotto voce conversation that excluded him, or spoke in Spanish to those whose businesses they inspected. During their first year working together, they had tracked a man smuggling unapproved medicine from the Bahamas. In the teeming area near the port, it took days to find the man's cargo van. Their team waited near the vehicle for hours until Odin finally announced, "I'm going to take a leak," and headed into a nearby business. Seconds later, the suspect appeared and drove off in his van—and Arias and the others followed him. Odin emerged to find his colleagues gone and, in the days before cell phones, had no way to reach them.

 That incident was one touchstone for their work relationship, with Odin's fear of being left out cropping up now and then. Another was their shared commitment to pure medicine and to ending the status quo within their agency. To some degree, they were perfect foils, Jewish and Cuban halves of the same stubborn coin. Both were prone to look on the dark side and see corruption and mismanagement. Both tried to fix such problems noisily and with little political grace.

As he drove, Arias now explained to Venema the frustration that he and Odin had faced over the years, trying to protect the public from adulterated medicine without guns or meaningful subpoena power. They had repeatedly urged their bureau to crack down on corrupt and dangerous manufacturers and wholesalers and to revoke licenses or even to refer some cases to other law enforcement agencies. In response, their bosses often accused them of "impeding commerce."

Whenever they seized bad medicine, they inevitably angered someone with means to hire a lawyer. Instead of lending support, their bosses often expressed doubt about their inspections. "We got all these drugs that are bad," Arias explained to Venema, "and they're asking me, 'Why are you there? How come?'"

Tensions between Tallahassee and the inspectors recently flared when management demanded that inspectors document their work days in fifteen-minute intervals. The stated goal was to measure their productivity. The inspectors, however, saw an ulterior motive. They feared that management would use the reports to "triangulate" them—to compare their daily activities with their gas receipts and highway tolls to find discrepancies of even a few minutes that would allow supervisors to impose discipline. Never mind that such reviews could burn hours of state time.

 Arias and the other inspectors had proposed, without success, that management measure productivity by a simple count: the volume of businesses inspected, investigations completed, and pharmaceuticals seized. They figured this made more sense, since the whole point of their work was to find and destroy bad medicine before it reached patients.

The inspectors, some of whom likened their work to a crusade, believed that Tallahassee had the productivity problem, not them. They complained that the reports they filed often languished for months and even years without being entered into the bureau's computer system, leading the bureau's functionaries to renew the licenses of companies they were actively investigating and even to grant licenses to convicted felons, narcotics traffickers among them.

The dispute over daily activity reports, part of a larger struggle over the bureau's core mission, became a standoff. Arias and the others flatly refused to fill out the reports. As one inspector, who later quit in disgust, wrote in her resignation letter, "Management has refused to take any responsibility for the widespread discontent in this Department. Instead it has responded with intimidation tactics and micro management where more time is spent documenting the work than doing it."

"They want to monitor our activities," said Arias, "but they don't want us to do anything. Isn't that ironic?"

Venema, amazed by this stream of grievances, wondered how Arias could stand his job, which amounted to watching crime unfold and doing nothing. "Why didn't you quit?" he asked, his laptop idle and his report half-finished, his attention focused squarely on Arias.


 As though it were obvious, Arias explained, "I love my job. It's really the perfect job, if it weren't for all the bullshit."

 


BY NOW THEY HAD ARRIVED AT BOYNTON BEACH AND THE GATED community of retirees where Odin refused to retire. When Odin opened the door, Venema saw a silver-haired man with glasses and rubber-soled shoes who walked with a slight shuffle. He had a hearing aid embedded in each ear and a string of Kabbala beads—reflecting a mystical Jewish belief that they would protect against evil spirits—around his wrist.

"Don't ever do that to me again," Odin said to Arias in greeting before ushering the men into his kitchen, where he had a pot of coffee and plate of cookies waiting on the table. He also had set out a stack of papers: the real business records of sales between BTC and the company called Omnimed. On twenty occasions, the two companies had bought and sold medicine to one another, the lowest sale being $33,000 and the highest nearing $100,000. Atkins had failed to give them nineteen of these records, despite his sworn statement that he had given them everything.

Odin often took a concerned, grandfatherly approach on his regulatory visits. He counseled those with new licenses on how to stay within the law's guidelines and continued to be affable even as they drifted into criminal activity. He could appear utterly fooled until he would walk outside and say, "You know they're lying because their lips are moving." Lulled into a belief in his senility, those he regulated inevitably divulged more information than they would have otherwise.

Given the records that Odin had produced, a perfect hammer to hold over Atkins's head, Venema was all too happy to include him. Also, Odin knew Carlow and Atkins's mother, Marilyn, who had functioned as Carlow's bookkeeper for years.

 "Can I make copies of these?" he asked Odin, who responded, "You can have them."

 


TEN DAYS LATER, THE THREE MEN SET OUT FOR BOCA RATON TO interview the employees of the Stone Group.

For years, Arias and Odin had been treated with casual disdain during regulatory visits: They were the flies that wouldn't stop buzzing. A joke. An irritant. But this time they arrived on the heels of the break-in at Bradley's and the subsequent police sting in the conference room, accompanied by a badge-wearing FDLE agent.

Since salesman Sean Dana's encounter with law enforcement, the employees of the Stone Group had been waiting for whatever the next step might be, fearing and suspecting they had been implicated in a criminal scheme. Venema did little to assuage their fear.

"We're going to put people in jail," he said by way of introduction.

It was five months after the September 11 terror attacks. Florida's flight schools had emerged as integral to the deadly planning. The highways had been cut up with countless road closures, emergency operations, terror alerts, and high-speed police pursuits and searches. No one wanted to be on the wrong side of law enforcement. And Venema mirthfully played upon that fear. As he said within earshot of the men, "Inside every Al Qaeda member is an FDLE informant just waiting to emerge," a phrase that made no particular sense but had the desired effect.

The Stone Group employees appeared terrified. Four of five, including Dana, were there, and all seemed inclined to cooperate.

 Arias and Odin began a site inspection. Odin was well known to the employees because he had given them one of his long-winded lectures about the do's and don'ts of the prescription drug business when they first got their license six months ago. They could only buy medicine from companies licensed by Florida. They needed to document the purchase of medicine from previous buyers, keep drugs in a refrigerated and secure warehouse that maintained regular office hours, and open their records to regular state inspections.

It took just minutes for Odin and Arias to turn up a number of don'ts. They found a drug called Marinol, a controlled substance and cannabis derivative that the Stone Group had purchased from BTC. Neither company had been licensed by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration to handle controlled substances. Doing so without a license was a felony.

The inspectors also found that several boxes of the cancer medicine Procrit were sticky to the touch, suggesting that they had already been dispensed to patients, then either stolen or resold and their pharmacy dispensing labels removed, leaving a gummy residue. "You guys must have thought you'd died and gone to heaven, getting such a good deal," Odin said with disgust. "This stuff came off the streets."

Sean Dana listened awkwardly. Meanwhile, Venema had taken Steve Gorn, the company's national sales manager, into another room to get his statement. Gorn, followed by the other Stone Group employees, explained that the company's growth had been aided by the relationship with Michael Carlow—a story that Odin and Arias could have guessed at from the new Lexuses and BMWs in the parking area outside. Each employee identified a mug shot of Carlow—suntanned and smiling with a diamond stud in one ear—from his arrest in 2000.

 For about seven years, the Stone Group had been a real estate company before becoming a wholesaler of prescription medicine six months ago. BTC quickly became one of the group's suppliers, selling the fledgling wholesaler a stream of remarkably discounted medicines, particularly injectable biotechnology drugs to treat cancer, AIDS, anemia, and other conditions. So far Stone Group employees had purchased nearly $2 million in medicine from BTC, dealing almost always with the jocular and helpful Michael Carlow and taking his calls day and night whenever he had "product" to sell.

Marty Bradley's drugs were no exception. They came into the Stone Group's possession on Sunday, January 20, 2002, five days after they were stolen from Bradley's Miami warehouse. That afternoon, the Stone Group's salesman Doug Brilliant, who three months earlier had worked as a stockbroker, went to Carlow's home in Weston near Fort Lauderdale to pick up the medicine.

When dealing with BTC, the pickup almost always involved a trip to Carlow's house, a lavish new construction worth $1.3 million in the gated community of Windmill Ranch Estates. The Stone Group employees would get waved past the guardhouse at the community's edge, drive along the quaint lanes to Carlow's house, and enter through the garage, which housed a Ferrari convertible, a yellow Dodge Viper, and a number of other vehicles. They would make their way to the adjacent laundry room, where Carlow kept medicine in a refrigerator, and he would pack up boxes of drugs on one of several large tables. Usually someone was there to help him.

Gorn told Venema that they called Carlow after the sting at BioMed Plus. Carlow acted surprised and apologetic and wanted to know if they could still do business. "Basically, he said he's going to have some more products with a paper trail and everything next week," said Gorn.

 Venema asked when that discussion took place.
 
"I know we had a conversation this morning about some products," said Gorn. "But we haven't done anything since."

 


THE INSPECTORS SEIZED SEVERAL BOXES OF MEDICINE FROM THE Stone Group. Outside, they loaded it into the truck of Miami-Dade police sergeant John Petri, who had come for surveillance and protection.

Petri, short and muscular with a well-groomed mustache and a lively, sensitive face, was a decorated marksman with a wall of trophies. But his real gift was for surveillance, for waiting invisibly in his truck, either tailing a suspect or idling in a cul-de-sac or parking lot.

His attention rarely flagged during these hours-long stretches, in part because his truck allowed for a world of activity. It contained two police radio systems, photography and video surveillance equipment, a global positioning satellite device, a laptop that plugged into the cigarette lighter and had its own motionless stand, and a specially designed sun shade that allowed him to videotape right through it.

Now Petri gathered with the others in the parking lot and listened as Arias explained that the case against Carlow couldn't be much simpler: "You can't have a pharmacy in your house," he said.


 6. The Cheshire Cat

January 20, 2002

Windmill Ranch Estates

Weston, Florida


 


THE GLISTENING "SUPERBURB" OF GOLF COURSES, LAKES, SHOPPING malls, and gated communities of Italianate mansions that Michael Allyn Carlow called home was a developer's dream, dredged out of a swamp two decades ago. Planned down to each mailbox and hibiscus plant, Weston had become a destination address, described by the Sun Sentinel as a planned community "where hyperbole meets reality."

Once rare birds, snakes, and alligators occupied the 10,000 acres of wetlands west of Fort Lauderdale that bordered the Everglades and helped to regulate and drain its fragile ecosystem. Environmentalists lost their battle to preserve it and soon Starbucks, the Gap, and Florida's largest mall, Sawgrass Mills, replaced the rich marshland, with many of Weston's new residents driving gas-devouring Hummers.

Windmill Ranch Estates—lane after lane of palazzos on a grid of sparkling lakes and costly palm trees, each one trucked in and replanted—was among Weston's costliest gated communities. Carlow lived here on expansive landscaped grounds. Some thought he was a retired dot-commer. Others believed he had a furniture business. Regardless, his neighbors knew him as a gregarious family man.


 Shortly after sunrise, on the Sunday the Stone Group was to pick up Bradley's medicine, Carlow opened the door of his mansion to confront an entirely separate problem from his past. Strangers had parked a giant moving truck in his driveway. The group included a lawyer, a paralegal, a police officer, four United States marshals, several movers, and a locksmith. The men offered him a court order, which Carlow perused. Appearing relaxed as ever and wearing only boxer shorts, he invited them in. They had come to seize everything that he owned.

At fifty, Carlow had a sunny, joking manner that little seemed to disrupt. Tan, with unkempt gray hair, slouching posture, and a paunch, he was casual about his appearance, if not indifferent to it. He appeared affable and low-key, his diamond stud earring the only hint of wildness. On occasion his features held a predatory glimmer—the low-slung jaw, the downturn in his narrow lips, the slight jutting of the bottom teeth, and his brown eyes small and intense below a broad brow.

The officers who now trooped through his mansion had nothing to do with the theft of medicine from Bradley's warehouse four days earlier. They had arrived on the matter of Medical Distribution Inc. v. Quest Healthcare Inc. and Michael Carlow, one of the most persistent in a trail of lawsuits in which Carlow had been named a defendant. So many people had fought to recover money from him it was actually hard to keep them all straight. He owed the Internal Revenue Service almost $500,000. A jewelry store in Fort Lauderdale had demanded $54,000 for watches and diamond rings that he bought on credit. Even his old homeowner's association had lodged a judgment against him for $2,006 plus lawyer's fees.

A Federal court in Louisville, Kentucky, had ordered him to pay $98,630 to Medical Distribution Inc., a company that had shipped pharmaceuticals to his corporations but had not gotten paid for them. When he failed to pay, the court authorized MDI to seize his belongings.

 As the team sent by MDI moved from one enormous room to the next, Carlow followed calmly. He was not about to lose his head over some possessions. He knew from experience that even if they took everything today, he could start buying more tomorrow. He had done it four years ago after he filed for bankruptcy. He gave up his share of a beachfront condo to his third wife, from whom he was getting divorced. The bank had repossessed his $108,000 Bentley and his $675,000 Sea Ray Yacht.

The yacht, which he bought in 1997, had been a thrill. As he wrote to the man who arranged the financing, "I am very excited about this purchase and I will sing your praises for some time to come." He had named the boat the Cheshire Cat, which proved to be quite apt. The animal from Alice in Wonderland had been able to vanish when in danger, leaving only its famous grin behind to mark the spot where it had been.

After his bankruptcy, Carlow also vanished in his particular way. He put most of his new possessions in the name of his fourth wife, Candace. He also formed companies that appeared to belong to others, a scheme that MDI's lawyers spent the better part of a year untangling. Once they realized that Carlow, not the listed owners, owed the money, they began the legal proceedings that had brought them to his door today.

Inside Carlow's mansion, the Miami lawyer for MDI, Alejandro Hoyos, was amazed by the lavish décor: the marble bath rising from the center of the master bathroom like a throne; the Hadrian's Villa effect of the outdoor rooms, with several wet bars, overlooking the enormous swimming pool; and the master bedroom, with its four-poster bed and separate sitting room, that was as big as Hoyos's entire apartment.


 Throughout their exploration, Carlow's pregnant, twenty-nine-year-old wife Candace hovered in the background. Barefoot and wearing shorts and a T-shirt, she made continual cutting remarks, even as her husband chatted cordially. While the big blonde struck Hoyos as strictly "trailer park," Carlow came across as smooth and knowledgeable, "the type of guy who could sell ice to Eskimos," Hoyos said later.

In the bedroom closet where Carlow kept a row of custom-made suits that he rarely wore, the Weston sheriff paused over a bag of sex toys.

"They're just for the benefit of my wife," said Carlow.

"Leave them," Hoyos told the sheriff. "I don't want to touch them."

The men spent all day inside the mansion. They seized jewelry, paintings, Carlow's collection of sixteen Gibson guitars, designer clothing, camera equipment, enormous bronze statues including one of four jockeys on horseback that took three people to carry out, flat-screen television sets, fitness equipment, fishing rods, a coin collection, and even Carlow's electric shaver with the charger too. They also took envelopes of cash—two containing $10,000 each and another with $5,000 inside.

By day's end, they had filled the eighteen-wheeler outside with 129 pieces of property. On their way out, one of the men took the Rolex off Carlow's wrist and plucked the diamond stud from his ear. The truck then disappeared down the palm-tree-shaded lane.

As Carlow stood in his denuded mansion, he was hardly vanquished. The men who had just seized his possessions had failed to take the most valuable items in the house, and they were now his to sell: 344 vials of rare blood derivatives, including NovoSeven and Gammimune, which he had stashed in the refrigerator in his laundry room for the Stone Group salesman to pick up that very afternoon.

 


 BORN IN CONNECTICUT AND RAISED IN HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA, Michael Carlow began his vanishing tricks in high school. He often sneaked into a local theme park, Pirate's World, which had rides and concerts, and sometimes he got caught when he became tangled in the barbed wire. His classmates remembered Carlow as the class clown, their best friend, and a bubbling personality who could lift their spirits with a single phone call. He played guitar in a popular rock band.

For all his sociability, his peers also recalled something private about him beneath the buoyant surface. His yearbook photo showed him with a wide grin and a sidelong glance, as though enjoying a secret joke.

After graduating in 1970, he drifted through a series of jobs, working in the claims department of an insurance company, as a printing-press operator, and in advertising for a car-wash equipment company.

He also embarked on a series of crimes. In 1973, at age twenty, he was convicted of armed robbery and served three years in prison. In 1984, he was arrested for dealing in stolen property. While the case against him was dismissed, he was ordered to complete a substance abuse treatment program. While enrolled in the program, he was arrested in Alabama for selling cocaine and this time fled. A warrant was issued for his arrest. In 1986, he turned himself in and resumed his drug rehab.

Perhaps more than anything, his time at the Village South Drug Rehabilitation Program changed his life. Not only did he quit the drinking and drug use that had fueled his petty crimes and revolving-door trips through the court system, but he also glimpsed a business that would earn him a fortune.


 By the time MDI extended him credit in 1999, Carlow had shed any semblance of the drug-addled hood in thick glasses and a bushy mustache in his old mug shots. He now had a story that seemed believable.

He claimed to have entered the health-care field, particularly substance abuse treatment. And indeed he had—as a patient in court-ordered rehab. In 1991, he formed what he called a consulting company that later became Quest Healthcare Inc. As he explained to those from whom he wanted money or business, Quest oversaw more than a dozen mental health, male impotency, and HEY infusion clinics in six different states. "I trust this will give you a background sketch of what we do," he wrote to his yacht broker in 1997.

After his 1998 bankruptcy, Quest and his other spin-off companies, most of them not in his name, began branching out into pharmaceuticals, which allowed for the purchase of more luxury goods, including another yacht. This time the boat's name, Tenacity, reflected his talent for coming back. Just a few years after his bankruptcy, he owned the Weston mansion, five cars, a new boat, and numerous men's watches including an $110,000 Audemars Piguet with 458 diamonds. His net worth exceeded $5 million.

In addition to angry creditors, he left behind a trail of colleagues, whose names and credit ratings he had all but destroyed. Those who went into business with him were rarely blame-free: Some had criminal records, personal bankrupt-cies, or at least a self-serving view of the law. But most saw Carlow as being in a league of his own. "He would do anything that he could do that would make him money," said Michael Rosen, who helped manage Quest Healthcare and had a prior conviction for bank fraud. "He wouldn't care whose life was destroyed in the balance."

Crushed by debt after Carlow failed to pay Quest's bills, Rosen went to Carlow's mansion and asked to borrow a few thousand dollars. Surrounded by $60,000 Gibson guitars and wearing one of his extravagant watches, Carlow responded, "I don't have that kind of money. Can't help you."

 Jeffrey Schultz, a Coral Springs businessman who had been convicted of bank fraud alongside Rosen and was recovering from his own personal bankruptcy, had a similar experience. He had been trying to set his life right when Carlow hired him to manage another of his companies that raised money for investment in health clinics. He found Carlow to be "personable, very likeable," and said he did not think otherwise until he learned that MDI was suing him because Carlow had not paid for more than $260,000 in pharmaceuticals. Schultz said Carlow asked him to order the drugs.

Still imagining some misunderstanding, Schultz went to Carlow's mansion and pleaded with him, "This is not my debt." Carlow responded blithely that it was not his problem. "We're all big boys," he said. Schultz was forced to file for bankruptcy a second time.

Of all the lawsuits that Carlow faced, the one brought by MDI went the farthest in penetrating his business interests, in part by simply finding him behind the front people, shell corporations, and decoy mailing addresses that he used. The ' lawsuit alleged that he had been the silent operator of sham corporations in Ohio, Michigan, Kentucky, and elsewhere, and that he had conspired with his wife, Candace, to buy pharmaceuticals on credit and not pay for them. According to the lawsuit, the Carlows set Schultz and others up in business, told them what to do, presented management of the companies to them as a business opportunity, and left them "on the hook" for the unpaid accounts.

The principal lawyer for MDI, Dennis Murrell in Louisville, managed to depose most everyone involved. And as he did, a common allegation emerged: Carlow was the silent partner who misused those naive enough to allow their names on his businesses, such as Norman J. Embree, who once ran a profitable AIDS clinic in Fort Lauderdale.

 After a business slowdown, Embree sold a portion of his clinic to Carlow and so began a nightmare. Embree recalled that one day, Carlow marched into a treatment room and grabbed boxes of an experimental HIV vaccine that the clinic had gotten through a federal grant.

Though Embree protested, he said that Carlow walked out and resold the vaccine for a profit. On another night, Carlow brought a truck and removed medical equipment, selling a refracting lens back to the company from which Embree bought it. Shortly afterward, Embree said that Carlow changed the locks and expelled him from his own clinic.

Within a year, the clinic was closed and Embree's finances were in tatters. He later testified in a deposition that Carlow and his wife, Candace, "just disappeared and left my name on everybody's loans, so they never registered with the State as being involved in any way, shape or form."

When Murrell asked Embree what the result of that had been, he responded, "Um, I get invited to depositions like this one."

For more than a year, MDI attorney Dennis Murrell had tried unsuccessfully to question Carlow, who ignored court orders, dodged subpoenas, and failed to show up for scheduled depositions. In September 2001, when Murrell finally got him under oath in a Miami law office, he appeared as composed and jaunty as ever.

Carlow denied having any relationship with the companies in question and said that he was unemployed and survived on the salary of his wife, who had her own medical consulting company. He claimed to own almost nothing, as his various houses, cars, and credit cards were all in his wife's name. And he insisted that he was not responsible for the actions of those who had ordered medicine and failed to pay their bills.

 He said of Jeffrey Schultz's complaint that he had ordered medicine on Carlow's behalf: "I think it makes fair sense to me that Mr. Schultz is trying to shift the weight, as it were." He added, "Jeffrey is a big boy. He has a couple of years on me, as a matter of fact."

It was four months after this deposition that MDI's representatives drove out to Carlow's mansion and seized his property. Three weeks after that, on February 12, 2002, Murrell deposed Carlow again. Despite his financial and legal woes, Carlow remained chipper and, in his jocular way, continued to deny any involvement in procuring pharmaceuticals without paying for them.

"All right. Back on the air," he said, resuming his testimony after a lengthy off-the-record debate. Offering to spell a complicated last name for the stenographer, he said, "I'll take it for a descriptive drive."

No longer "unemployed" as he claimed to be at the last deposition, he said he was dividing his time between two start-up companies: one, Navigator PC, was developing global positioning satellite devices; the other was a wholesale apparel company. He also acknowledged consulting for a new company, G&K Pharma, about which he declined to answer questions. It was licensed in Baltimore, Maryland, and on paper it was run by Carlow's brother-in-law Atkins. The initials stood for Atkins's two favorite cats, Gus and Kitty.

It seemed obvious from Carlow's irreverent and almost giddy manner throughout the deposition that he felt well insulated. He was expanding his businesses with obvious zeal, while thumbing his nose at the state's notoriously weak health laws.

 


 FEW WHO TOOK ON CARLOW ACTUALLY WON THEIR BATTLES. JOAN Bardzick, the tough-as-nails owner of three check-cashing stores, was an exception. Her customers included migrant farm workers, loan sharks, and anyone else who needed instant cash. At her store in Davie, she worked behind two sets of locked bulletproof doors, her inner office seemingly frozen in the 1970s with its well-stocked backlit bar and black leather sofas.

A salty veteran of every imaginable scam attempted on her, Bardzick, with her leathery tan and velour track suits, took pride in never being played for a fool. But in the summer of 2000, Carlow had fooled her. She thought he was a legitimate businessman who ran AIDS treatment clinics because her daughter Wendy, who worked for a major pharmaceutical company as a sales rep, counted Carlow among her best customers. His doctors were some of the busiest prescribers in the area; her daughter knew this from the data that her company collected. She had also been inside several of his bustling clinics and vouched for him when he started bringing checks to her mother's store. That, and his Rolex watch and Mercedes convertible, convinced Bardzick that he was credible.

At Carlow's clinic in Fort Pierce, checks were "bouncing all over the place," recalled Hazel Hoylman, the clinic's community outreach coordinator. Even though the clinic received generous federal reimbursement for treating AIDS patients, doctors and nurses went unpaid and stopped coming to work. Disposable needles piled up after the company that collected them didn't get paid, said Hoylman.


 At Bardzick's A-1 check-cashing store, Carlow soon bounced $93,120 in checks. Afterward, he showed up acting sheepish and promised to make things right. Bardzick, now on full alert, immediately hired a lawyer to put liens on his property.

Unabashed, Carlow proposed to her a way that she could get her money back and they could both wind up ahead: Her daughter could open an AIDS clinic and he would become a silent partner.

As Bardzick told her daughter, "The man's off his rocker."

Wendy felt responsible for what had happened to her mother and determined to set it right. First, she went to lunch with Carlow and tried, face to face, to convince him to repay the debt. He spent most of the meal on his cell phone, conducting other business.

Frustrated and angry, she called him at home several times, the last time threatening to take out an ad in the newspaper near where his kids went to school. He responded, "Don't you ever call me again," and something in his tone made her nervous, as though she had crossed some invisible boundary into a danger zone.

So Wendy decided to exact revenge the best way she knew how: leverage her knowledge and drive him out of business by steering his employees, patients, and federal grant money away from his clinics to other competitors in the area.

She succeeded. As his clinics faltered, Carlow was forced to sell one of his houses. Bardzick, who had already placed a lien on his property, was waiting for him. She succeeded in recouping her money plus lawyers fees. Though still furious months later, she remained one of the few who had tangled with Carlow and not lost a dime.
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